

Fakulta zemědělskáJihočeská univerzitaa technologickáv Českých BudějovicíchFaculty of AgricultureUniversity of South Bohemiaand Technologyin České Budějovice

UNIVERSITY OF SOUTH BOHEMIA IN ČESKÉ BUDĚJOVICE

FACULTY OF AGRICULTURE AND TECHNOLOGY

Department of Genetics and Biotechnology

Dissertation Abstract

Enhanced production of daunomycin in Streptomyces coeruleorubidus

Author Baveesh Pudhuvai, Msc.

prof. Ing. Vladislav Čurn, Ph.D. Supervisor

•

České Budějovice 2024



Fakulta zemědělskáJihočeská univerzitaa technologickáv Českých BudějovicíchFaculty of AgricultureUniversity of South Bohemiaand Technologyin České Budějovice

JIHOČESKÁ UNIVERZITA V ČESKÝCH BUDĚJOVICÍCH

ZEMĚDĚLSKÁ A TECHNOLOGICKÁ FAKULTA

Katedra genetiky a biotechnologií

Autoreferát disertační práce

Zvýšená produkce daunomycinu u Streptomyces coeruleorubidus

Baveesh Pudhuvai, Msc. Author

Supervisor prof. Ing. Vladislav Čurn, Ph.D.

> České Budějovice 2024

Dissertation Abstract	
Doctoral student:	Baveesh Pudhuvai, Msc.
Study program:	P4114 Biotechnology
Field of Study:	Agricultural Biotchnology
Title of Work:	Enhanced production of daunomycin in <i>Streptomyces coeruleorubidus</i>
Supervisor:	Prof. Ing, Vladislav Čurn, Ph.D. University of South Bohemia in Ceske Budejovice Faculty of Agriculture and Technology Department of Genetics and Biotechnology
Oponents:	Doc. Ing. Jaroslav Salava, Ph.D. Výzkumný ústav rostlinné výroby v Praze Rostlinolékařská virologie a fytoplazmatologie Odbor ochrany plodin a zdraví rostlin RNDr. Alexandr Jegorov CSc TEVA Czech Industries Mgr. Medard Plucnara, Ph.D. VUAB Pharma a.s.

The defense of the dissertation will take place on 11/12/2024 at 1:30 p.m. in the meeting and seminar room ZR 01 053, 1st floor at the Department of Genetics and Agricultural Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia in České Budejovice

You are cordially invited to familiarize yourself with the dissertation at the study department of the Faculty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia in České Budejovice

prof. Ing. Vladislav Čurn, Ph.D. Head of the Board Agricultural Biotechnology FAT USB České Budejovice

Autoreferát disertační práce	
Doktorand:	Ing, Baveesh Pudhuvai, Msc.
Studijní program:	P4114 Biotechnologie
Studijní obor:	Zemědělské biotechnologie
Název práce:	Zvýšená produkce daunomycinu u Streptomyces coeruleorubidus
Školitel:	Prof. Ing, Vladislav Čurn, Ph.D. Jihočeská univerzita v Českých Budějovicích Zemědělská a technologická Fakulta Katedra genetiky a zemědělských biotechnologií
Oponenti:	Doc. Ing. Jaroslav Salava, Ph.D. Výzkumný ústav rostlinné výroby v Praze Rostlinolékařská virologie a fytoplazmatologie Odbor ochrany plodin a zdraví rostlin
	RNDr. Alexandr Jegorov CSc TEVA Czech Industries
	Mgr. Medard Plucnara, Ph.D.
	VUAB Pharma a.s.

Obhajoba disertační práce se koná dne 11.12.2024 v 13:30 hodin v zasedací a seminární místnosti ZR 01 053, 1. patro na katedře genetiky a biotechnologií Fakulty zemědělské a technologické JU v Českých Budějovicích.

S disertační prací se lze seznámit na studijním oddělení Fakulty zemědělské a technologické JU v Českých Budějovicích.

prof. Ing. Vladislav Čurn, Ph.D. Předseda oborové rady Zemědělské biotechnologie FZT JU v Českých Budějovicích

Abstract

This Ph.D. thesis is focused on the importance of daunomycin/daunorubicin and a novel method to enhance its production in the Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus in combination of cultivation media modifications and counteracting autotoxicity. daunorubicin (DNR) is an anthracycline antibiotic originating from soil-dwelling actinobacteria extensively used to treat malignant tumors. Over the decades, extensive attempts were made to enhance the production of anthracyclines by introducing genetic modifications and mutations in combination with media optimisation, but the target production levels remain comparatively low. Developing an appropriate culture medium to maximise the yield of DNR and preventing auto-toxicity for the producing organism remains a challenge. This work sheds light on a method involving perturbation that enhances the precursors to regulate PKS II biosynthesis, enhancing cells' capacity to increase secondary metabolite production. The suggested method also entails the preparation of culture media for the cultivation of *Streptomyces* sp. and enhanced yield of DNR and making it inactive with iron or its reduced forms following efflux from the producer. The iron or iron-DNR complex is encapsulated by oleic acid or lipid micelle layers in the culture media, finally resulting in the generated inactive DNR and the DNR-iron-oil complex. This idea has the potential to protect the producer organism from autotoxicity and prevent the inhibition of metabolite production. This research successfully induces an autonomous resistance mechanism through biogenic nanoparticle formation (ADBN) by developing a specialised cultivation medium that integrates olive pomace oil and iron. The approach of substituting sugar with oil in culture media has a dual role where it promotes *Streptomyces* growth by utilizing lipids as an energy source and encapsulating the generated DNR-iron complex in the medium. The amphiphilic properties of olive pomace oil not only serve as a carbon source but also facilitate the stabilization of nanoparticles, thereby enhancing the efficacy of the synthesis process due to its rich phenolic content, which promotes crucial redox reactions. The optimization of the medium composition through empirical methods resulted in a marked increase in daunomycin production, achieving yields between 5.5 and 6.0 g/L, which demonstrates a significant advancement relative to prior methodologies. This research not only contributes to the field of microbial fermentation and antibiotic production but also emphasizes the importance of minimizing environmental impacts through the production of insoluble daunomycin

precipitates that can be efficiently recovered from the cultivation medium. Overall, these findings present promising avenues for further investigation into the mechanisms underlying biogenic nanoparticle formation and the optimization of cultivation processes. Such explorations may not only refine microbial production systems for daunomycin but also broaden the potential application of similar strategies for synthesising other therapeutically important compounds.

We anticipate that this work will help researchers working with secondary metabolite production decipher a methodology that would enhance DNR yield and facilitate the extraction of the resulting DNR by lowering costs in large-scale fermentation.

Keywords: Streptomyces, daunomycin, autotoxicity, enhanced production, ironinteraction

Table of Contents

Abstract		
1. Introduction	9	
2. Literature Review	9	
2.1. Anthracyclines	9	
2.2. The Anthracyline Producers	. 10	
2.3. Daunorubicin/Daunomycin	. 10	
2.4. Biosynthesis of DNR in Streptomyces	. 11	
2.4.1. Biosynthetic Gene Clusters (BGCs) and gene regulation	. 11	
2.5. Mode of Action of DNR/DOX	. 12	
2.5.1. DNA intercalation	. 12	
2.5.2. Topoisomerase II (Topo II) poisoning	. 13	
2.5.3. Formation of DNA adducts	. 13	
2.6. Self-Resistance in non-target species/microbial factories	. 13	
2.6.1. Resistance genes	. 13	
2.6.2. Efflux pumps	. 14	
2.7. Interaction of DNR/DOX with iron	. 14	
2.8. Interaction of DNR/DOX with oil	. 15	
2.9. Culture Media for metabolites production in <i>Streptomyces</i> sp	. 15	
A) Carbon source	. 16	
B) Nitrogen source	. 16	
C) Phosphorus source	. 16	
D) Other elements	. 17	
2.10. Engineering culture media – in Prospect for improved production	. 17	
2.10.1. Perturbation of metabolite biosynthesis in Streptomyces sp	. 17	
2.10.2. Media construction for three-way interaction (DOX/DNR-ir	on-	
oligolipid)	.18	

3.	Aims and Hypothesis	. 19
4.	Overview of the Obtained Results	. 20
5.	Conclusion	. 22
6.	References	. 23
7. I	List of Publications	.32
8. P	articipation in foreign or domestic conferences and internships	.33
9. Curriculum Vitae		

1. Introduction

Daunomycin, an anthracycline antibiotic originally isolated from the bacterium Streptomyces peucetius, plays a pivotal role in treating various cancers, particularly leukemia. Its therapeutic efficacy is primarily attributed to its ability to intercalate into DNA, disrupting essential replication and transcription processes in rapidly dividing cells. Additionally, daunomycin serves as a precursor for synthesising more advanced anthracyclines (Thomas 1990). However, its clinical utility is often compromised by inherent cytotoxic effects (Thirumaran et al. 2007), including toxicity to the microbial strains used for its production, posing significant challenges for industrial-scale synthesis (Srinivasan et al. 2010a; Vasanthakumar et al. 2013a).

A critical aspect governing daunomycin's biological activity is its interaction with iron, particularly through the Fenton reaction. This process illustrates how iron can catalyze the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) from hydrogen peroxide, leading to oxidative stress and cellular damage (Taatjes et al. 1997). While iron is vital for numerous physiological functions, excessive concentrations can exacerbate oxidative effects. The therapeutic use of iron chelators to mitigate daunomycin toxicity (Kaiserová et al. 2007) underscores the need for a deeper understanding of the interplay between these two elements, as it significantly influences the compound's pharmacological properties and therapeutic efficacy in fermentation contexts.

While most research has traditionally focused on the toxicological effects of daunomycin in eukaryotic models, its implications for prokaryotic organisms remain only partially explored nowadays (Cai et al. 2023). Investigations have largely centered on the biosynthesis of daunomycin and the molecular mechanisms of resistance, particularly involving efflux pumps (Malla et al. 2010; Yuan et al. 2011a).

This study focuses on the development of a cultivation medium specifically designed to induce auto-resistance through Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation (ADBN). Utilizing a fermentation medium enriched with olive pomace oil and iron, this research aims to explore the inherent affinity of daunomycin for both iron and oil. Our strategy leverages the combination of olive pomace oil and bacteria to facilitate the formation of iron nanoparticles (NPs) (Afonso et al. 2024).

Furthermore, it seeks to bridge the existing knowledge gap by investigating the effects of daunomycin on eukaryotic cells in conjunction with the underexplored data from prokaryotic organisms, especially those involved in the production of daunomycin. This dual approach aims to enhance our understanding of daunomycin's mechanisms of action and its potential applications in both eukaryotic and prokaryotic systems.

2. Literature Review

2.1.Anthracyclines

Anthracyclines are chemical compounds derived from soilborne actinobacteria that have been used in antibiotics and as anticancer medication agents (Dinis et al. 2023). They are a class of chemotherapeutic drugs that have been widely utilized to treat leukaemia and cancer in adults and paediatrics since their discovery in *Streptomyces peucetius* in the 1960s (Weiss 1992; Shapiro and Recht 2001; Minotti et al. 2004; McGowan et al. 2017; Murabito et al. 2023).

The class of Anthracyclines and their derivatives, including doxorubicin, epirubicin, daunorubicin, and idarubicin, are the most potent anticancer drugs ever discovered, having the ability to alter mitochondrial dynamics by intercalating with DNA helix and cause cytotoxicity. Anthracyclines exert their cytotoxic effects primarily through their interaction with DNA. By intercalating into DNA strands, they inhibit proper DNA replication and transcription, inducing double-strand breaks and impairing DNA repair mechanisms. Additionally, anthracyclines generate reactive oxygen species (ROS) through redox cycling, further contributing to DNA damage and apoptosis (Dinis et al. 2023).

The anthracyclines are tetracyclic aromatic polyketides that are produced by the PKS II (polyketide synthase type II) pathway and are structurally composed of an anthraquinone (aglycone) moiety and an amino sugar (carbohydrate unit) at the C_7 or C_{10} or at both positions. The absence of sugar at C_{10} is substituted by a carbo-methoxyl group or a hydroxyl group through processes like glycolisation and hydroxylation (Fujiwara et al. 1985; Hortobágyi 1997; Dinis et al. 2023). The term "Anthracyclines" was introduced to denote the colour (red to yellow-red optical dyes) of the chemical derivatives 7,8,9,10-tetrahydro-5,12-naphtacenoquinones (Brockmann and Brockmann Jr. 1963; Metsä-Ketelä et al. 2008). In the 1970s, chemists were driven to create anthracycline derivatives with reduced toxicity because even small structural modifications might significantly affect the bioactivity of the anthracyclines (Hortobágyi 1997). The interest and progress in synthesis pathway engineering (synthetic and semi-synthetic *via* site-directed mutations, gene alterations) of anthracyclines and their analogues were carried out after the 1990s due to their exciting catalysing properties (Metsä-Ketelä et al. 2008).

2.2. The Anthracyline Producers

The anthracycline compounds occurring in nature are the secondary metabolites produced by the Actinobacteria, especially in the genus *Streptomyces* (Ait et al. 2015). They possess a lifecycle similar to filamentous fungi, reproduce through sporulation, and exhibit siderophore activity and produce metabolites like desferrioxamine (iron chelator), geosmin (earthy smell organic compound), streptothricin (antibiotic) and streptomycin (antibiotic) (Zhu et al. 2014; Martín-Sánchez et al. 2019). Approximately 90% of the know antibiotics are obtained from the organisms of *Streptomeces* genera and to date, more than 500 naturally occurring anthracyclines have been isolated from *Streptomyces* sp. (Elshahawi et al. 2015; Hulst et al. 2022).

Streptomyces Ceoruleorubidus is a potentially important streptomyces bacteria that employs the synthesis of antifungal, antibacterial, immunosuppressive, and antitumor compounds such as Doxorubicin and Daunorubicin (Kandula and Terli 2013; Bundale et al. 2015; Li and Zhang 2021) This proliferative ability for synthesizing such metabolites can be altered by influencing variables such as nitrogen and carbon sources, culturing conditions such as temperature, pH, and incubation period, which can play a critical role in the economic dynamics involved in secondary metabolite production. The use of physical and chemical mutations in the Streptomyces species has been reported to have the enhanced production of secondary metabolites, especially anthracyclines (Oki et al.; Blumauerova et al. 1978; Zhang et al. 2018).

2.3. Daunorubicin/Daunomycin

Daunorubicin (DNR) also called Daunomycin, is an anthracycline antibiotic that was first

discovered in 1964 from *Streptomyces peucetius and* is extensively employed in treating malignant tumours, especially leukemia (Arcamone et al. 1964; Drevin et al. 2022; Bayles et al. 2023) Despite the demonstrated cardiotoxicity of daunomycin in Guinea pigs, rats, and humans (Ainger et al. 1976; Bossa et al. 1977; von Hoff et al. 1977), the cumulatively reduced dosages administered during chemotherapy allows the mitigation of these cardiovascular risks (Swain et al. 2003; Hegazy et al. 2023). It was approved in 1974 as an anti-cancer drug worldwide for commercial use. The daunomycin (DNR) and doxorubicin (DOX) share tetracyclic alycone and daunosamine sugar moieties. The only difference between DNR and DOX is that the side chain of DOX terminates with primary alcohol and DNR with a methyl group (Minotti et al. 2004). The quest to find a better alternative with reduced toxicity has led to thousands of analogues with many substitution reactions in the anthraquinone moiety (tetracyclic structure) (Minotti et al. 2004). Out of which currently, six semi-synthetic derivatives, including DOX, idarubicin, epirubicin, pirarubicin and valurubicin, are under clinical use.

2.4. Biosynthesis of DNR in Streptomyces

The production of secondary metabolites occurs through two phases: trophophase (normal growth phase), followed by idiophase (capacity to produce metabolites), where, at times, both phases can be regulated, overlapped and changed with the alterations in media and growth conditions. The enhancement in the secondary metabolite production can be possible with the development of resistance in the cells as the produced compounds are autotoxic. This led to the works on biosynthetic gene cluster alterations and expression enhancement of activator genes, transcription factors and increased mutations in promotor genes (Ohnuki et al. 1985; Minotti et al. 2004).

2.4.1. Biosynthetic Gene Clusters (BGCs) and gene regulation

The importance and biosynthesis of Daunorubicin and its gene clusters have been characterized by two BGCs in different strains (Grimm et al. 1994; Dickens et al. 1995)The majority of BGCs share homologous genes encoding monofunctional enzymes for the assembly of aglycone units, and the BGC for DNR (daunorubicin) and DOX (doxorubicin) was sequenced from the *Streptomyces peuctius* ATCC 27952 (Parajuli et al. 2004). They identified a 40kb sequence encoding the BGC for DNR, DOX consisting of 37 ORFs (open-reading frames). The distinctive characteristics among the BCGs include a high abundance of glycosyl transferases, gene sets involved in deoxysugar production and a repertoire of tailoring genes for secondary metabolite. The DNR/DXR biosynthesis is completed in three steps: (A) Formation of Aglycone (ϵ -rhodomycinone), (B) Formation of an active sugar moiety (thymidine diphosphate daunosamine), (C) Glycosylation of ϵ -rhodomycinone and post polyketide modifications (decarboxylation, methylation and hydroxylation) (Grimm et al. 1994; Hutchinson 1997). The BGC responsible for the biosynthesis of polyketide and sugar moieties in DNR/DOX also includes the regulatory genes for the initiation, regulation and termination of the entire synthesis pathway.

The production pathway is regulated by the genes including *dnrO*, *dnrN* and *dnrI*, the transcription factors, where *dnrO* holds a significant importance in initiating the pathway. The *dnrO* produces a DNA helix binding domain, which is a key transcriptional regulator that activates the *dnrN* transcriptional activator, which finally leads to the activation of *dnrI*. The

dnrI encoding enzyme binds to several polyketide synthases and facilitates the activation of efflux regulatory genes and initiation of DNR biosynthesis. The BGC also includes a transcriptional repressor *drrD/dnrW*, which promotes the transcriptional control by coherent feed-forward loop, self-resistance and feedback regulation (Vasanthakumar et al. 2013b; Shrestha et al. 2019). The *drrD/dnrW* regulates the master transcription factor *dnrI*, which is crucial for the DNR/DOX biosynthesis. Deleting *dauW* (ortholog of *drrD/dnrW* in *S. ceoruleorubidus*) has increased the production of DNR by 8 folds (Yuan et al. 2011b).

The regulation of the lethal concentrations of produced DNR inside the cell is conferred by the *drrAB* locus, which includes the drrA and drrB proteins necessary for the efflux of the finished product (Guilfoile and Hutchinson 1991; Vasanthakumar et al. 2013b). The expression and function of drrA and drrB are interdependent at an ATP-driven pump, where drrA is a peripheral membrane protein acting as an energy-transducing unit inside the cell when bound to the ATP in a DOX-dependent manner and drrB is the internal protein with hydrophobicity and helps in the efflux of produced DNR/DOX (Kaur 1997; Kaur et al. 2005). A mutant strain without the *drrAB* has exhibited a decline in DNR production and resulted in cell death. Overexpression of *drrAB* has resulted in the overproduction of DNR and promoted self-resistance (Li et al. 2014). Thus, the self-resistance genes also indirectly affect the biosynthetic pathway in DNR/DOX production (Srinivasan et al. 2010b). Another resistance gene is *drrC*, which functions in the presence of ATP and DNR by binding to the DNR intercalated DNA and propelling it outside of the cell. This self-resistance gene maintains cell viability and regulates the lethal concentrations of DNR in a dependent manner, which relies on *dnrN* and *dnrI* in the biosynthetic pathway (Furuya and Richard Hutchinson 1998).

The entire pathway and its regulation decide the fate of DNR/DOX quantity production in *Streptomyces* sp. Thus, over the past decades, researchers have considered engineering the genes involved in the biosynthesis of aglycone, sugar moiety, tailoring reactions, transcriptional factors, transcriptional repressor and self-resistance to improve DNR/DOX production at an industrial level for commercial uses in cancer medication.

2.5. Mode of Action of DNR/DOX

Since their discovery, the DNR and DOX have been extensively employed for treating solid tumours but have faced significant drawdown due to their toxic properties. Anthracyclines enter cells through cation transport and passive diffusion, eventually leading to alterations in the proteasome and nucleosome (Mattioli et al. 2023).

2.5.1. DNA intercalation

Anthracyclines exhibit a strong affinity for DNA by inserting their aglycone moieties between the base pairs, causing the separation of the existing base pairs, and positioning their sugar components in the minor groove of the DNA (Comings and Drets 1976). DNR and DOX have a preferential ability to bind to DNA at GC base pairs of both mitochondrial and nuclear DNA by establishing hydrogen bonding between the hydroxyl group on the C-9 position at aglycone moiety and N2, N3 of guanine (Chaires et al. 1990; Nunn et al. 1991; Ashley and Poulton 2009). This inhibits cellular DNA transcription, replication, recombination and repair, which creates torsional stress. The torsional stress alters the structure (disassociation of H2A/H2B dimers from histone core) and dynamics of nucleosomes (Gupta et al. 2009; Martins-Teixeira and Carvalho 2020). The histone eviction caused by DOX/DNR (in H3 due to rich GC base pairs) majorly due to the sugar moiety binding to DNA critically causes chromatin damage, which leads to epigenomic aberrations and transcriptional alterations (Pang et al. 2015; Mattioli et al. 2023).

2.5.2. Topoisomerase II (Topo II) poisoning

The Topoisomerase II (Topo II) induces double-stranded breaks (DSBs), releases torsional stress and re-ligates the DNA breaks, ensuring the proper DNA transcription, replication and repair (Nitiss 2009). Anthracyline interacts with the Topo II enzyme to form an anthracycline-topoisomerase-DNA quarternary complex. It induces irreversible DNA damage by preventing the regeneration of phosphodiester bonds between the DNA strands (Mattioli et al. 2023). DNR/DOX intercalates the Topo II DNA with their cyclohexane ring A in aglycone moiety and 4-methoxy group in sugar moiety. The changes in the functionality of Topo II to a DNA nuclease generate genomic instability, activation of DNA damage response and TP53 pathways, eventually leading to cell death (van der Zanden et al. 2021). In mammals, the Topo II enzyme is distinguished into isoforms Topo II α (generate replication forks during mitosis in actively diving cells) and Topo II β (expressed in most cell types devoid proliferation status), where the DOX interacts with Topo II β in cardiomyocytes and lead to cardiotoxicity(Lyu et al. 2007; Zhang et al. 2012).

2.5.3. Formation of DNA adducts

Anthracyclines form DNA adducts between the two strands through covalent and hydrogen bonds with aglycone and sugar moieties, respectively. The DOX-DNA covalent bond in the cancerous cell is facilitated by the cellular formaldehyde, produced due to free radicle reactions with polyamines and lipids is responsible for the block in transcription, DSBs and replication (Kato et al. 2001). *In-vitro* studies using DOX by pre-activated formaldehyde resulted in the formation of transcriptional blocks through the formation of inter-strand adduct (G-DOX-G cross-linking), inhibiting the transcription process (Cullinane and Phillips 1992). The treatment of mice cancer cell lines with DOX leads to the disruption of the replication process and cell cycle arrest through the blocks in [8H]-thymidine (Bilardi et al. 2012; Forrest et al. 2012). The investigations involving DOX and DOX-formaldehyde conjugate on colorectal cancer cell lines for DNA repair mechanisms resulted in DNA adduct-induced damage. The studies also prove the damage (apoptosis) caused by DOX-DNA adducts is independent and does not rely on the Topo II activity (Swift et al. 2006; Spencer et al. 2008; Barthel et al. 2016).

2.6. Self-Resistance in non-target species/microbial factories

The microbial cell factories of antibiotics, anthracyclines, and related cytotoxic compounds like filamentous *Actinobacteria* and *Streptomyces* are programmed to deal with the cytotoxic compounds made by them (Hopwood 2007; Julian and Dorothy 2010). These resistance mechanisms include the expression of resistance genes, efflux systems to pump out anthracyclines, the inactivation of anthracyclines through enzymatic modifications and interaction with other metal elements.

2.6.1. Resistance genes

The microbial cell factories of antibiotics, anthracyclines, and related cytotoxic compounds like filamentous *Actinobacteria* and *Streptomyces* are programmed to deal with the cytotoxic

compounds made by them (Hopwood 2007; Julian and Dorothy 2010). Similar to the antibiotic pathway-synthesising genes on BGCs, the resistance genes are also encoded in the BGCs, which initiates the process of self-resistance through time-space co-ordinated expression or intermediate-dependent (compound produced) expression (Mak et al. 2014). The resistance mechanisms are variable, which include target protection, compound inactivation, modification, sequestration and efflux.

In *Streptomyces peucetius*, the genes encoding resistance for DNR/DOX are *drrA*, *drrB*, and *drrC* unravelled when expressed in *E. coli* and *S. lividans*. The *drrA and drrB* proteins act as drug-efflux complexes produced during the idiophase, whereas the *drrC* is transcribed earlier and facilitates the efflux through drug binding (Guilfoile and Hutchinson 1991; Lomovskaya et al. 1996; Kaur 1997). A detoxification strategy of *Streptomyces* by reducing the DOX to 7-deoxydoxorubicinolone via deglycosylation using NADH: ubiquinone oxidoreductases was reported (Westman et al. 2012). Developing and employing natural microbiome inhibitors against toxicity for drug delivery in oncological medicine would reduce the side effects of anthracyclines.

2.6.2. Efflux pumps

Efflux pumps play a pivotal role in conferring multidrug resistance in bacteria by facilitating the expulsion of toxic compounds either produced by the organism or acquired from the external environment (Webber and Piddock 2003). They are key components of the cell membrane that regulate the internal cellular toxic chemicals and elements (metal ions) concentrations through extrusion and also inhibit the re-entry of compounds to evade toxicity (V 2006; Bazzi et al. 2020). The efflux pumps utilize energy by hydrolysing the ATP and can use the electrochemical or ionic gradient inside the bacterial cells to efflux the toxic compounds. These efflux pumps comprise transmembrane protein helices facilitating the translocation of produced secondary metabolites (Gaurav et al. 2023). The DOX/DNR is extruded out by the AbeM efflux pump of the MATE family (using antiporters H⁺ and Na⁺) in *Acinetobacter baumannii*, whereas the ABC pumps (generally hydrolyse ATP) perform the extrusion in *Streptomyces* sp. (Abdi et al. 2020; Zack et al. 2024).

The ABC (ATP-binding cassette) pumps facilitate the import and export of chemical substances based on their structural architecture and folding (Thomas and Tampé 2024). The ABC efflux pumps in bacteria translocate various compounds like sterols, secondary metabolites and lipids across the membrane through 12 transmembrane domains (TMDs) and two nucleotide-binding domains (NBDs). The *drrAB* transporter system encodes for the efflux of DNR/DOX in *S. peucetius*, where *drrA* (peripheral membrane protein) binds to ATP and *drrB* (hydrophobic membrane protein) enables the translocation acting as resistance mechanism (Kaur and Russell 1998). Several followup studies conferred the resistance mechanism of *drrAB* transporter system and the co-dependence of both proteins in efflux activity (Méndez and Salas 2001; Li et al. 2013). A recent study by Dong et al. (2024) conducted on ABC transporter in *Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus* yielded significant findings, indicating that the drrAB genes of the DNR BGC facilitate the efflux of excess DNR/DOX within the cell (Dong et al. 2024).

2.7. Interaction of DNR/DOX with iron

Daunomycin is the chelator of iron, where ionic forms of iron (Fe^{2+} and Fe^{3+}) bind to specific functional groups of anthraquinone moiety and form stable complexes (Zweier et al. 1986).

The quinone group at position 5 and hydroxy group at position 6 on the aglycone part of DNR acts as the binding sites for iron by donating electrons. The DNR also has a side chain with hydroxyl groups which can donate lone pair of electrons and bind to iron (Zweier et al. 1986). Both ferrous (Fe^{2+}) and ferric (Fe^{3+}) forms of iron bind to daunomycin, where Fe^{2+} is highly reactive and readily participate in redox cycling and alter between ionic states and Fe^{3+} is less reactive and form stable complexes (Fiallo and Garnier-Suillerot 1986; Fiallo et al. 1993). This stabilization activity can be employed for the therapeutic purposes. The first tri-ferric doxorubicin compound, named Quelamycin, a metallic derivative of the Adriamycin prepared was through chelation in the presence of Fe (III), (Gosálvez et al. 1978). The compound has been reported to be highly stable in phase I clinical trials and P 388 leukaemia cells, where the cytosolic components do not degrade the compound, and it also inhibits the free flow of electrons from NADH to oxygen molecules in cells (Cortés-Funes et al. 1980; Beraldo et al. 1985; Fiallo and Garnier-Suillerot 1986). The bond strength of the iron-DNR complex is high and the chelation activity can be reversible or disassociated in high acidic pH (lower) conditions and in presence of iron binding compounds like transferrin, ferritin.

2.8. Interaction of DNR/DOX with oil

The anthracycline compounds daunorubicin and idarubicin are lipophilic and their interaction mechanisms with the lipids are studied using various experiments (Ribeiro et al. 2013; Alves et al. 2017; Matyszewska 2020). Oils and the oleic acid being non-polar, bind to the hydrophobic regions on the anthraquinone moiety, which is often used in therapeutic formulation. The liposome-associated doxorubicin was reported to have reduced systemic and cardiotoxicity in clinical trials for humans and mice (Gabizon et al. 1986, 1989; Amselem et al. 1992). The daunorubicin is encapsulated by the liposomes (phospholipid vesicles) and exploited for drug delivery mechanism(Juliano and Stamp 1978; Mussi et al. 2014).

2.9. Culture Media for metabolites production in Streptomyces sp.

The production of antibiotics at a large scale is a combinatorial effect which relies upon the strain efficiency, ability to utilise the available nutrients, physical conditions and productivity of the metabolites (Rodrigues da Silva et al. 2021). The primary nutrients like Carbon, Nitrogen and Phosphorus, along with minor mineral elements, remain the major constituents of the culturing media responsible for the growth and production of necessary chemical compounds in *Streptomyces sp.* The carbon serves as a prominent energy source, nitrogen is responsible for cell growth and metabolism, and phosphates assist in the production of the metabolites (Rokem et al. 2007). To date, many investigations over the decades have concentrated on improving secondary metabolites using strain engineering *via* genetic alterations. However, the culmination of improved levels of metabolite production through extensive genetic research remains unpromising.

The DNR/DOX compounds are produced in the late growth phase through a multitude of enzymatic reactions by the *Streptomyces* strains, utilizing nutrients (Sánchez et al. 2010). The highest yields are achieved by combining several approaches to strain development, suitable culture media composition, and well-optimised fermentation conditions. The production of metabolites is also linked to factors like nutrients available in culture media and fermentation conditions (temperature, light, oxygen and pH) (Sánchez et al. 2010; Bilyk and Luzhetskyy 2016).

A) Carbon source

Glucose or sugars are the most often utilized carbon sources in industrial fermentation due to their low cost and high availability, even though they inhibit secondary metabolite synthesis (Rokem et al. 2007; Ruiz et al. 2010; Hulst et al. 2022). The carbon source serves as the vital controlling agent for secondary metabolite production in *Streptomyces*, as transcriptional activation or carbon catabolite repression (CCR) is dependent on the source and concentration of carbon (Hodgson 2000; Rokem et al. 2007; Ruiz et al. 2010). Carbon from sugars like glucose, maltose, glycerol, sucrose, mannose, and xylose has been reported to interfere with the production of more than 30 types of secondary metabolites (mostly antibiotics) in *Streptomyces sp.* (Ruiz et al. 2010; Romero-Rodríguez et al. 2017). The synthesis of Doxorubicin in *S. peucetius* has been impeded by the utilization of glucose and galactose as the carbon source in the culture medium (Escalante et al. 1999). Sugar carbon in the media at an industrial level leads to an increase in acidification and triggers feedback inhibition through produced intermediates.

The erythromycin yield in *Saccharopolyspora erythraea* at the industrial level using oil and soy flour has been improved to 3.5g/L compared to the dextrin control (Hamedi et al. 2004). Clavulanic acid production in *Streptomyces clavuligerus* has been improved using Olive oil as a sole carbon source (Efthimiou et al. 2008). Employing soybean oil as a source of carbon has enhanced the production of FK506 (tacrolimus)- an immunosuppressant polyketide by 88.8% in *Streptomyces tsukubaensis* (Wang et al. 2017). Enhanced production of DOX (1100mg/L) was achieved by mutation treatment (UV and ART-plasma) and soybean oil as a carbon source in *Streptomyces peucetius* SIPI-11 (Wang et al. 2018). Oil utilisation has also benefited from imparting the activity as an antifoam at the industrial scale of fermentation. The breakdown of oils supports the activity of malonyl Co-A and Acetyl Co-A, which are essential for the biosynthesis of secondary metabolites. Thus, employing an oil-based carbon source instead of sugar in combination with optimised fermentation conditions and selection would enhance DNR/DOX production.

B) Nitrogen source

The source and concentration of nitrogen in the media also remain a vital factor for secondary metabolite production. Nitrogen in the form of ammonia is mostly preferred by microorganisms, and the genera *Streptomyces* naturally possess a constant nitrogen acquisition and metabolism to ensure their survival (Tiffert et al. 2011; Romero-Rodríguez et al. 2017). *Streptomyces* assimilate ammonia through glutamate dehydrogenase in ammonia-rich conditions and glutamine synthetase pathways in ammonia-deficient conditions (Rokem et al. 2007). The influence of various regulatory mechanisms of nitrogen in *Streptomyces* has been clearly reviewed in (Krysenko 2023). The forms or sources of nitrogen, like ammonium, nitrate, amino acids, and polyamines, have an impact on the production of secondary metabolites in *Streptomyces* (Romero-Rodríguez et al. 2017; Krysenko 2023).

C) Phosphorus source

Phosphorus, in the form of inorganic phosphate, is the crucial element acting as the building blocks for nucleotides, proteins, and several regulatory signalling cascades(van Wezel and McDowall 2011). The concentration of phosphate in cells significantly impacts the production of secondary metabolites in *Streptomyces* and related actinobacteria (Barreiro and Martínez-

Castro 2019). Increased concentrations of phosphates in media (>10mM) have resulted in decreased yields of antibiotic production, whereas the lower concentration (<0.1mM) has positively increased the secondary metabolite production, implying the significance of phosphates on biosynthetic pathways (F 2004; Romero-Rodríguez et al. 2018). The limited availability of phosphate results in nutritional stress and initiates the secondary metabolite biosynthetic pathways. The regulation of phosphate in *Streptomyces* is carried out through a two-component mechanism, PhoR-PhoP, clearly reviewed elsewhere (Allenby et al. 2012; Martín and Liras 2020).

D) Other elements

A well-established culture media including all these macro components together with the essential microelements like Fe, Ca, Zn, S, etc, results in the enhancement of secondary metabolites yield. The use of rare earth elements in the culture medium for *Streptomyces sp.* is reported to activate the BCG's cluster for secondary metabolite production (Hosaka et al. 2009). Tanaka et al. (2010) used scandium and lanthanum in a medium for the cultivation of *Streptomyces coelicolor* and reported an increase in activity by 2.5 to 12-fold (Tanaka et al. 2010). Optimization and starndardization of culture media considering pH, combinations of nutrients, agitation, temperature had resulted in enhanced production of daunomycin in *Streptomyces sp.* (Bundale et al. 2015; Wang et al. 2018).

2.10. Engineering culture media – in Prospect for improved production.

Over the past decades, genetic alterations have been frequently used to enhance the production of metabolites in *Streptomyces*, improving regulatory gene expression, modifying resistance, developing efflux mechanisms, and possible combinations with strain development. However, modifications to the culture media can also potentially improve production yields. A considerable amount of research is lacking in this area, but strategies employed for other polyketide synthesis in *Streptomyces* relevant to daunomycin can provide promising insights into the enhancement of production devoid of complex and expensive gene editing methods. The prominent effect of DOX/DNR is its autotoxicity by intercalating with the DNA in the producers when the concentration increases. The prospective idea of this article is to prepare culture media for cultivating *Streptomyces* sp. based on binding with Iron or reduced forms of iron after effluxed from the producer. The iron or iron-DNR complex is encapsulated by the oleic acid or lipid micelle layers in the culture medium, converting the DNR/DOX to inactive forms and settling with the DNR-iron-oil complex. Therefore, this hypothesis can safeguard the producer strain from toxicity and avoid inhibiting metabolite production.

2.10.1. Perturbation of metabolite biosynthesis in Streptomyces sp.

The over expression of regulatory genes in BGCs and downregulation of repression genes and factor always remained as prominent approaches in the metabolic engineering of *Streptomyces* for metabolite production (Méndez and Salas 2005; Shrestha et al. 2019; Hulst et al. 2022). On the contrary, the availability of biosynthetic precursors also serves as a key factor that are generated primarily by carbon catabolism in the organisms (Nielsen 1998; Tanaka et al. 2017). Perturbation is the supply of precursors for modulating biosynthesis to improve cells' ability to enhance secondary metabolite production. The ARCs (antibiotic remodelling compounds) screened from *Streptomyces coelicolor* A3(2) are known to stimulate metabolite production

by acting as precursors. (Olano et al. 2008). The ARC2 similar to the antimicrobial compound triclosan, has been reported to partially inhibit the fatty acid synthesis and utilize the acetyl CoA for polyketide biosynthesis and improve the actinorhodin yield in *S. coelicolor* (Olano et al. 2008; Craney et al. 2012). The overproduction of metabolites like oligomycin, salinomycin, erythromycin and actinorhodin have been reported by the using the triclosan as an elicitor of polyketide biosynthesis in *Streptomyces sp.* (Norimasa et al. 2003; Yukinori et al. 2013; Tanaka et al. 2017). The aim of this discussion is to propose an equivalent approach for the strains of *Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus* to enhance daunorubicin production capacity, rather than adhering to usual genetic engineering methods.

2.10.2. Media construction for three-way interaction (DOX/DNR-ironoligolipid)

The achievement of prospective three-way interaction can be achieved from distinctive methods under a single hood with critical optimization of conditions like pH, temperature, pressure, incubation time and initial components like natural chelators, metal salts and nutrient sources. The biosynthesis of FeO particles from their salts like FeCl₃ using phytoextracts are being employed in nanoparticles synthesis over decades (Singh et al. 2018; Pudhuvai et al. 2024). The phytic acid present in plants, cereals, and legumes has a tremendous metal chelation potential (Graf and Eaton 1990). The phytate-metal complex is stable and cannot be liberated in wide pH ranges. Phytates from soybean or soy-derived products have high iron binding ability, which is considered a major drawback in diet and nutrition (Hurrell et al. 1992; Gupta et al. 2015). Thus, utilizing soybean phytates in the culture medium facilitates iron binding and chelation. As discussed in the above carbon sources section, the oil source of carbon in the culture media for *Streptomyces* describes its prominence in the improved production in several instances, including erythromycin (Hamedi et al. 2004), clavulanic acid (Effhimiou et al., 2008), doxorubicin (Wang et al. 2018), salinomycin (Han et al. 2020) and josamycin (Eiki et al. 1988). Employing crude oils, including the raw plant parts with phytic acid contents, will deliver the nutrient carbon source and act as a reducing agent for iron in the media. Crude oils of soybean and pomace have enhanced Clavulanic acid production in *Streptomyces*, which is also a waste-to-value strategy (Effhimiou et al. 2008; Young et al. 2020). The crude plant oil substrate used for the cultivation media form micelles due to elevated temperature and pressure during autoclaving and encapsulate the FeO particles. After inoculation of the perturbated Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus culture to the cultivation media, the production of daunorubicin takes place and is effluxed out into cultivation media.

Considering the lipophilic nature of daunorubicin, the produced, effluxed DOX/DNR into the medium can interact with the oligolipid surface layer with FeO particles from the oil-based medium (Alves et al. 2017). The interaction between anthracycline and metal ions, especially iron, has the potential to form complexes demonstrate high stability constants in the medium (Seke et al. 2019). The produced and effluxed DOX/DNR by the *Streptomyces* strain interacts directly with the FeO-micelle to form a DOX-Fe-micelle complex (Calendi et al. 1965; Cortés-Funes et al. 1980; Xu et al. 2005). Thus, capturing the produced metabolite in an inactive form helps avoid toxicity to the producer organism. *Streptomyces*' defensive strategy of effluxing the excess DNR/DOX re-initiates the production of new DNR/DOX molecules inside the cells, resulting in improved productivity. Therefore, the enhancement of the daunomycin production in *Streptomyces* using this media construction approach can be established with reduced costs and negligible metabolic engineering of strains.

3. Aims and Hypothesis

The main aim of the thesis was to develop a Daunomycin-producing strain and optimise an efficient medium to enhance the DNR production, reduce costs and simplify downstream processing. Studies were focused on:

- Isolation and cultivation of the *Streptomyces ceoruleorubidus* strain and optimisation of its growth on R2A (Reasoner's 2A agar), PDA, and M2 (Melanocyte growth media).
- Strain identification using 16S RNA.
- Performing protoplast fusion with the wild strain of *S. ceoruleorubidus* by triclosan treatment to achieve a high DNR-producing strain.
- Screening and selecting strains by regulatory genes *dnrN*, *dnrO*, and dnrI, daunomycin resistance genes *drrA*, *drrB*, and *drrC*.
- Observational recording of the strain morphology of the improved strains for sporulation behaviour and homogenous growth.
- Testing various C (sugar, oils) and N sources individually or in combination, including different mineral supplements, e.g., rare earth elements, copper, zinc, vitamins, antibiotics, etc., for enhanced DNR production.
- Optimization of the culture media to encapsulate the DNR together with reduced iron as complex with oil and make it inactive.

The dissertation hypothesis was (a) whether a specific iron-containing medium would lead to the formation of daunomycin-iron complexes that could reduce the solubility and bioavailability of daunomycin and (b) whether this approach would lead to reduced toxic impacts during fermentation while simultaneously increasing the yield of the target metabolite and overall production efficiency, all while minimizing the ecological footprint of the process.

4. Overview of the Obtained Results

The results achieved during the dissertation were prepared in two manuscripts:

Pudhuvai B., Beneš K., Čurn V., Bohata A., Lencova J., Vrzalova R., Barta J. and Mat'ha V.: Enhancement of Daunomycin Production in Streptomyces sp. By Counteracting Autotoxicity – A Prospective. Microorganisms (submitted to edition).

This review is focused on the issue of daunorubicin (DNR) and the possibility of increasing the production of this metabolite using a specific culture medium. Our prospective review sheds light on a method involving perturbation that enhances the precursors to regulate PKS II biosynthesis, enhancing cells' capacity to increase secondary metabolite production. The suggested method also entails the preparation of culture media for the cultivation of Streptomyces sp. and enhanced yield of DNR and making it inactive with iron or its reduced forms following efflux from the producer. The iron or iron-DNR complex is encapsulated by oleic acid or lipid micelle layers in the culture media, finally resulting in the generated inactive DNR and the DNR-iron-oil complex. This idea has the potential to protect the producer organism from autotoxicity and prevent the inhibition of metabolite production. The approach of substituting sugar with oil in culture media has dual role where in promotes the Streptomyces growth by utilizing lipids as an energy source and encapsulating the generated DNR-iron complex in the medium. In this review, we discussed aspects like anthracycline producers, biosynthesis pathways and gene regulation, side effects of DNR, mechanism for autotoxicity evasion and culture media components for enhancement of DNR production in Streptomyces sp. We anticipate that our work help researchers working with secondary metabolites production and decipher a methodology that would enhance DNR yield and facilitate the extraction of the resulting DNR by lowering costs in large-scale fermentation.

Beneš K., Pudhuvai B., Čurn V., Motis J., Rost M., Michalcova Z., Vilcinskas A. and Mat'ha V.: Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation in Daunomycin Producing Streptomyces. Microorganisms (submitted to edition)

This study focuses on developing a cultivation medium specifically designed to induce autoresistance through Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation. Utilizing a fermentation medium enriched with olive pomace oil and iron, this research aims to explore the inherent affinity of daunomycin for both iron and oil. Our strategy leverages the combination of olive pomace oil and bacteria to facilitate the formation of iron nanoparticles (NPs). Furthermore, it seeks to bridge the existing knowledge gap by investigating the effects of daunomycin on eukaryotic cells in conjunction with the underexplored data from prokaryotic organisms, especially those involved in the production of daunomycin. This dual approach aims to enhance our understanding of daunomycin's mechanisms of action and its potential applications in both eukaryotic and prokaryotic systems. By systematically optimizing iron levels, we aim to facilitate the formation of daunomycin-iron complexes that can reduce the solubility and bioavailability of daunomycin. This transformation not only alleviates its cytotoxic effects on microbial production strains but also has the added ecological benefit of producing daunomycin as an insoluble precipitate. This precipitate can be easily separated from the cultivation medium by filtration or centrifugation, concentrated into a smaller volume, and extracted using phosphoric acid, followed by a final extraction of the dissolved daunomycin using significantly reduced volumes of organic solvents. Thus, this approach targets the reduction of toxic impacts during fermentation while enhancing compound yield and overall production efficiency, all while minimising the environmental footprint of the process. This research not only contributes to the field of microbial fermentation and antibiotic production but also emphasizes the importance of minimizing environmental impacts through the production of insoluble daunomycin precipitates that can be efficiently recovered from the cultivation medium. Overall, these findings present promising avenues for further investigation into the mechanisms underlying biogenic nanoparticle formation and the optimization of cultivation processes. Such explorations may not only refine microbial production systems for daunomycin but also broaden the potential application of similar strategies for the synthesis of other therapeutically important compounds.

5. Conclusion

In conclusion, this study presents significant advancements in understanding the biogenic nanoparticle formation mechanism, particularly in the context of daunomycin production, an anthracycline antibiotic pivotal for treating cancers such as leukemia. The inherent cytotoxicity of daunomycin and the challenges associated with its industrial-scale synthesis due to microbial toxicity have limited its therapeutic applicability. By developing a specialized cultivation medium that integrates olive pomace oil and iron, this research successfully induces an autonomous resistance mechanism through biogenic nanoparticle formation (ADBN). The amphiphilic properties of olive pomace oil not only serve as a carbon source but also facilitate the stabilization of nanoparticles, thereby enhancing the efficacy of the synthesis process due to its rich phenolic content, which promotes crucial redox reactions.

The optimization of the medium composition through empirical methods resulted in a marked increase in daunomycin production, achieving yields between 5.5 and 6.0 g/L, which demonstrates a significant advancement relative to prior methodologies. Characterization of the nanoparticles confirmed the successful incorporation of iron and daunomycin, underscoring the potential of this approach to mitigate cytotoxicity while improving yield. The presence of specific proteins associated with iron homeostasis and oxidative stress response further illustrates the organism's ability to adapt to high iron concentrations, highlighting the intricate biochemical pathways at play. Moreover, the observed inverse correlation between redox potential (Eh) and daunomycin production suggests that monitoring Eh could serve as a valuable indicator for optimizing fermentation conditions.

This research not only contributes to microbial fermentation and antibiotic production but also emphasizes the importance of minimizing environmental impacts through the production of insoluble daunomycin precipitates that can be efficiently recovered from the cultivation medium. These findings present promising avenues for further investigation into the mechanisms underlying biogenic nanoparticle formation and the optimization of cultivation processes. Such explorations may not only refine microbial production systems for daunomycin but also broaden the potential application of similar strategies for the synthesis of other therapeutically important compounds.

In conclusion, highlighting the unique origin of the *Streptomyces* strain employed in this study, which was isolated from mosquito larvae, is of the utmost importance. This research not only delineates a novel cultivation process to produce daunomycin but also illuminates the significant potential of insect-derived microorganisms as valuable assets in pharmaceutical research. Insects, representing one of the most diverse taxa on the planet, are hosts to many microorganisms, which may yield a wealth of bioactive compounds relevant to drug development. Recent studies have increasingly recognized these insect-associated bacteria as promising sources for pharmaceutically active substances (Piel 2006; Chevrette et al. 2019; Van Moll et al. 2021; Diarra et al. 2024).

The metabolic diversity inherent in these insect-associated microbes, cultivated over millions of years of co-evolution with their hosts, presents a significant opportunity for advancing drug discovery, particularly in the context of rising antimicrobial resistance and the emergence of novel diseases (Bode 2011; Dettner 2011). It is, therefore, evident that the exploration of this hitherto underutilized microbial reservoir has the potential to pave the way for identifying innovative therapeutic agents, thereby making a significant contribution to the ongoing efforts in pharmaceutical research and development.

6. References

- Abdi SN, Ghotaslou R, Ganbarov K, et al (2020) Acinetobacter baumannii Efflux Pumps and Antibiotic Resistance. Infect Drug Resist 13:423–434. https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S228089
- Afonso IS, Cardoso B, Nobrega G, et al (2024) Green synthesis of nanoparticles from olive oil waste for environmental and health applications: A review. J Environ Chem Eng 12:114022. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2024.114022
- Ainger LE, Bushore J, Johnson WW, et al Daunomycin: A Cardiotoxic Agent* Professor of Pediatrics, Meharry Medical College
- Ait BE, Parul V, Lisa S, et al (2015) Taxonomy, Physiology, and Natural Products of Actinobacteria. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 80:1–43. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00019-15
- Allenby NEE, Laing E, Bucca G, et al (2012) Diverse control of metabolism and other cellular processes in Streptomyces coelicolor by the PhoP transcription factor: genome-wide identification of in vivo targets. Nucleic Acids Res 40:9543–9556. https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks766
- Alves AC, Nunes C, Lima J, Reis S (2017) Daunorubicin and doxorubicin molecular interplay with 2D membrane models. Colloids Surf B Biointerfaces 160:610–618. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2017.09.058
- Amselem S, Cohen R, Druckmann S, et al (1992) Preparation and Characterization of Liposomal Doxorubicin for Human Use. J Liposome Res 2:93–123. https://doi.org/10.3109/08982109209039903
- Arcamone F, Franceschi G, Orezzi P, et al (1964) Daunomycin. I. The Structure of Daunomycinone. J Am Chem Soc 86:5334–5335. https://doi.org/10.1021/ja01077a059
- Ashley N, Poulton J (2009) Mitochondrial DNA is a direct target of anti-cancer anthracycline drugs. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 378:450–455. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbrc.2008.11.059
- Barreiro C, Martínez-Castro M (2019) Regulation of the phosphate metabolism in Streptomyces genus: impact on the secondary metabolites. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 103:1643–1658. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-018-09600-2
- Barthel BL, Mooz EL, Wiener LE, et al (2016) Correlation of in Situ Oxazolidine Formation with Highly Synergistic Cytotoxicity and DNA Cross-Linking in Cancer Cells from Combinations of Doxorubicin and Formaldehyde. J Med Chem 59:2205–2221. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.jmedchem.5b01956
- Bayles CE, Hale DE, Konieczny A, et al (2023) Upcycling the anthracyclines: New mechanisms of action, toxicology, and pharmacology. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 459:116362. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.taap.2022.116362
- Bazzi W, Abou Fayad AG, Nasser A, et al (2020) Heavy Metal Toxicity in Armed Conflicts Potentiates AMR in A. baumannii by Selecting for Antibiotic and Heavy Metal Coresistance Mechanisms. Front Microbiol 11:
- Beraldo H, Garnier-Suillerot A, Tosi L, Lavelle F (1985) Iron(III)-adriamycin and iron(III)daunorubicin complexes: physicochemical characteristics, interaction with DNA, and antitumor activity. Biochemistry 24:284–289. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00323a007
- Bilardi RA, Kimura K-I, Phillips DR, Cutts SM (2012) Processing of anthracycline-DNA adducts via DNA replication and interstrand crosslink repair pathways. Biochem Pharmacol 83:1241–1250. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.01.029

- Bilyk O, Luzhetskyy A (2016) Metabolic engineering of natural product biosynthesis in actinobacteria. Curr Opin Biotechnol 42:98–107. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.copbio.2016.03.008
- Blumauerova M, Pokorny V, Vani LZ (1978) Developmental Mutants of Streptomyces coeruleorubidus, a Producer of Anthracyclines: Isolation and Preliminary Characterization
- Bossa R, Galatulas I, Mantovani E (1977) Cardio-toxicity of Daunomycin and Adriamycin. Neoplasma 24:405–409
- Brockmann H, Brockmann Jr. H (1963) Rhodomycine, VIII; Antibiotica aus Actinomyceten, L. δ-Rhodomycinon. Chem Ber 96:1771–1778. https://doi.org/10.1002/cber.19630960705
- Bundale S, Begde D, Nashikkar N, et al (2015) Optimization of Culture Conditions for Production of Bioactive Metabolites by <i>Streptomyces</i> spp. Isolated from Soil. Adv Microbiol 05:441–451. https://doi.org/10.4236/aim.2015.56045
- Cai J, Deng T, Shi J, et al (2023) Daunorubicin resensitizes Gram-negative superbugs to the lastline antibiotics and prevents the transmission of antibiotic resistance. iScience 26:. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.isci.2023.106809
- Calendi E, Di Marco A, Reggiani M, et al (1965) On physico-chemical interactions between daunomycin and nucleic acids. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Nucleic Acids and Protein Synthesis 103:25–49. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0005-2787(65)90539-3
- Chaires JB, Herrera JE, Waring MJ (1990) Preferential binding of daunomycin to 5'TACG and 5'TAGC sequences revealed by footprinting titration experiments. Biochemistry 29:6145– 6153. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00478a006
- Comings DE, Drets ME (1976) Mechanisms of chromosome banding. Chromosoma 56:199–211. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00293185
- Cortés-Funes H, Brugarolas A, Gosálvez M (1980) Quelamycin: A Summary of Phase I Clinical Trials. In: Mathé G, Muggia FM (eds) Cancer Chemo- and Immunopharmacology: 1.
 Chemopharmacology. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 200–206
- Craney A, Ozimok C, Pimentel-Elardo SM, et al (2012) Chemical Perturbation of Secondary Metabolism Demonstrates Important Links to Primary Metabolism. Chem Biol 19:1020– 1027. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.06.013
- Cullinane C, Phillips DR (1992) In vitro transcription analysis of DNA adducts induced by cyanomorpholinoadriamycin. Biochemistry 31:9513–9519. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00155a001
- Dickens ML, Ye J, Strohl WR (1995) Analysis of clustered genes encoding both early and late steps in daunomycin biosynthesis by Streptomyces sp. strain C5. J Bacteriol 177:536–543. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.177.3.536-543.1995
- Dinis P, Tirkkonen H, Wandi BN, et al (2023) Evolution-inspired engineering of anthracycline methyltransferases. PNAS Nexus 2:pgad009. https://doi.org/10.1093/pnasnexus/pgad009
- Dong J, Ning J, Tian Y, et al (2024) The involvement of multiple ABC transporters in daunorubicin efflux in Streptomyces coeruleorubidus. Microb Biotechnol 17:e70023. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.70023

Drevin G, Briet M, Bazzoli C, et al (2022) Daunorubicin and Its Active Metabolite Pharmacokinetic Profiles in Acute Myeloid Leukaemia Patients: A Pharmacokinetic Ancillary Study of the BIG-1 Trial. Pharmaceutics 14:. https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics14040792

Efthimiou G, Thumser AE, Avignone-Rossa CA (2008) A novel finding that Streptomyces

clavuligerus can produce the antibiotic clavulanic acid using olive oil as a sole carbon source. J Appl Microbiol 105:2058–2064. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2672.2008.03975.x

- Eiki H, Gushima H, Saito T, et al (1988) Product inhibition and its removal on josamycin fermentation by Streptomyces narbonensis var. josamyceticus. Journal of Fermentation Technology 66:559–565. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0385-6380(88)90089-1
- Elshahawi SI, Shaaban KA, Kharel MK, Thorson JS (2015) A comprehensive review of glycosylated bacterial natural products. Chem Soc Rev 44:7591–7697. https://doi.org/10.1039/C4CS00426D
- Escalante L, Ramos I, Imriskova I, et al (1999) Glucose repression of anthracycline formation in Streptomyces peucetius var. caesius. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 52:572–578. https://doi.org/10.1007/s002530051562
- F MJ (2004) Phosphate Control of the Biosynthesis of Antibiotics and Other Secondary Metabolites Is Mediated by the PhoR-PhoP System: an Unfinished Story. J Bacteriol 186:5197–5201. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.186.16.5197-5201.2004
- Fiallo M, Laigle A, Garnier-Suillerot A, et al (1993) Interactions of iron-anthracycline complexes with living cells: A microspectrofluorometric study. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) -Molecular Cell Research 1177:236–244. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0167-4889(93)90119-A
- Fiallo MML, Garnier-Suillerot A (1986) Metal anthracycline complexes as a new class of anthracycline derivatives. Palladium(II)-adriamycin and palladium(II)-daunorubicin complexes: physicochemical characteristics and antitumor activity. Biochemistry 25:924– 930. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi00352a028
- Forrest RA, Swift LP, Rephaeli A, et al (2012) Activation of DNA damage response pathways as a consequence of anthracycline-DNA adduct formation. Biochem Pharmacol 83:1602–1612. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bcp.2012.02.026
- Fujiwara A, Hoshino T, Westley JW (1985) Anthracycline Antibiotics. Crit Rev Biotechnol 3:133–157. https://doi.org/10.3109/07388558509150782
- Furuya K, Richard Hutchinson C (1998) The DrrC protein of Streptomyces peucetius, a UvrA-like protein, is a DNA-binding protein whose gene is induced by daunorubicin. FEMS Microbiol Lett 168:243–249. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.1998.tb13280.x
- Gabizon A, Meshorer A, Barenholz Y (1986) Comparative Long-Term Study of the Toxicities of Free and Liposome-Associated Doxorubicin in Mice After Intravenous Administration2. JNCI: Journal of the National Cancer Institute 77:459–469. https://doi.org/10.1093/jnci/77.2.459
- Gabizon A, Peretz T, Sulkes A, et al (1989) Systemic administration of doxorubicin-containing liposomes in cancer patients: a phase I study. Eur J Cancer Clin Oncol 25:1795–1803. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-5379(89)90350-7
- Gaurav A, Bakht P, Saini M, et al (2023) Role of bacterial efflux pumps in antibiotic resistance, virulence, and strategies to discover novel efflux pump inhibitors. Microbiology (United Kingdom) 169
- Gosálvez M, Blanco MF, Vivero C, Vallés F (1978) Quelamycin, a new derivative of adriamycin with several possible therapeutic advantages. European Journal of Cancer (1965) 14:1185– 1190. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0014-2964(78)90224-4
- Graf E, Eaton JW (1990) Antioxidant functions of phytic acid. Free Radic Biol Med 8:61–69. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0891-5849(90)90146-A

- Grimm A, Madduri K, Ali A, Hutchinson CR (1994) Characterization of the Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 29050 genes encoding doxorubicin polyketide synthase. Gene 151:1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-1119(94)90625-4
- Guilfoile PG, Hutchinson CR (1991) A bacterial analog of the mdr gene of mammalian tumor cells is present in Streptomyces peucetius, the producer of daunorubicin and doxorubicin. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 88:8553–8557. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.88.19.8553

Gupta P, Zlatanova J, Tomschik M (2009) Nucleosome Assembly Depends on the Torsion in the DNA Molecule: A Magnetic Tweezers Study. Biophys J 97:3150–3157. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bpj.2009.09.032

Gupta RK, Gangoliya SS, Singh NK (2015) Reduction of phytic acid and enhancement of bioavailable micronutrients in food grains. J Food Sci Technol 52:676–684. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13197-013-0978-y

Hamedi J, Malekzadeh F, Saghafi-nia AE (2004) Enhancing of erythromycin production by Saccharopolyspora erythraea with common and uncommon oils. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 31:447–456. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-004-0166-1

Han L, Jiaxiu W, Jianxin D, et al (2020) Enhanced Triacylglycerol Metabolism Contributes to Efficient Oil Utilization and High-Level Production of Salinomycin in Streptomyces albus ZD11. Appl Environ Microbiol 86:e00763-20. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.00763-20

Hegazy M, Ghaleb S, Das BB (2023) Diagnosis and Management of Cancer Treatment-Related Cardiac Dysfunction and Heart Failure in Children. Children 10:149. https://doi.org/10.3390/children10010149

Hodgson DA (2000) Primary metabolism and its control in streptomycetes: A most unusual group of bacteria. In: Advances in Microbial Physiology. Academic Press, pp 47–238

Hopwood DA (2007) How do antibiotic-producing bacteria ensure their self-resistance before antibiotic biosynthesis incapacitates them? Mol Microbiol 63:937–940. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2958.2006.05584.x

Hortobágyi GN (1997) Anthracyclines in the Treatment of Cancer. Drugs 54:1–7. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-199700544-00003

Hosaka T, Ohnishi-Kameyama M, Muramatsu H, et al (2009) Antibacterial discovery in actinomycetes strains with mutations in RNA polymerase or ribosomal protein S12. Nat Biotechnol 27:462–464. https://doi.org/10.1038/nbt.1538

Hulst MB, Grocholski T, Neefjes JJC, et al (2022) Anthracyclines: biosynthesis, engineering and clinical applications. Nat Prod Rep 39:814–841. https://doi.org/10.1039/D1NP00059D

Hurrell RF, Juillerat MA, Reddy MB, et al (1992) Soy protein, phytate, and iron absorption in humans. Am J Clin Nutr 56:573–578. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1093/ajcn/56.3.573

Hutchinson CR (1997) Biosynthetic Studies of Daunorubicin and Tetracenomycin C. Chem Rev 97:2525–2536. https://doi.org/10.1021/cr960022x

Julian D, Dorothy D (2010) Origins and Evolution of Antibiotic Resistance. Microbiology and Molecular Biology Reviews 74:417–433. https://doi.org/10.1128/mmbr.00016-10

Juliano RL, Stamp D (1978) Pharmacokinetics of liposome-encapsulated anti-tumor drugs: Studies with vinblastine, actinomycin D, cytosine arabinoside, and daunomycin. Biochem Pharmacol 27:21–27. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0006-2952(78)90252-6

Kaiserová H, Šimůnek T, Štěrba M, et al (2007) New iron chelators in anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity. Cardiovasc Toxicol 7:145–150. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12012-007-0020-6

Kandula SK, Terli R (2013) Production, purification and characterization of an antimicrobial

compound from marine Streptomyces coeruleorubidus BTSS-301. J Pharm Res 7:397–403. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jopr.2013.04.047

- Kato S, Burke PJ, Koch TH, Bierbaum VM (2001) Formaldehyde in Human Cancer Cells: Detection by Preconcentration-Chemical Ionization Mass Spectrometry. Anal Chem 73:2992–2997. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac001498q
- Kaur P (1997) Expression and characterization of DrrA and DrrB proteins of Streptomyces peucetius in Escherichia coli: DrrA is an ATP binding protein. J Bacteriol 179:569–575. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.179.3.569-575.1997
- Kaur P, Rao DK, Gandlur SM (2005) Biochemical Characterization of Domains in the Membrane Subunit DrrB That Interact with the ABC Subunit DrrA: Identification of a Conserved Motif. Biochemistry 44:2661–2670. https://doi.org/10.1021/bi048959c
- Kaur P, Russell J (1998) Biochemical Coupling between the DrrA and DrrB Proteins of the Doxorubicin Efflux Pump of Streptomyces peucetius *. Journal of Biological Chemistry 273:17933–17939. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.273.28.17933
- Krysenko S (2023) Impact of Nitrogen-Containing Compounds on Secondary Metabolism in Streptomyces spp.—A Source of Metabolic Engineering Strategies. SynBio 1:204–225. https://doi.org/10.3390/synbio1030015
- Li M, Zhang Z (2021) The snogI Gene is Necessary for the Proper Functioning of the Nogalamycin Biosynthesis Pathway. Indian J Microbiol 61:467–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12088-021-00941-7
- Li W, Rao DK, Kaur P (2013) Dual Role of the Metalloprotease FtsH in Biogenesis of the DrrAB Drug Transporter *. Journal of Biological Chemistry 288:11854–11864. https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M112.441915
- Li W, Sharma M, Kaur P (2014) The DrrAB Efflux System of Streptomyces peucetius Is a Multidrug Transporter of Broad Substrate Specificity*. Journal of Biological Chemistry 289:12633–12646. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1074/jbc.M113.536136
- Lomovskaya N, Hong SK, Kim SU, et al (1996) The Streptomyces peucetius drrC gene encodes a UvrA-like protein involved in daunorubicin resistance and production. J Bacteriol 178:3238–3245. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.178.11.3238-3245.1996
- Lyu YL, Kerrigan JE, Lin C-P, et al (2007) Topoisomerase IIβ–Mediated DNA Double-Strand Breaks: Implications in Doxorubicin Cardiotoxicity and Prevention by Dexrazoxane. Cancer Res 67:8839–8846. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-07-1649
- Mak S, Xu Y, Nodwell JR (2014) The expression of antibiotic resistance genes in antibioticproducing bacteria. Mol Microbiol 93:391–402. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/mmi.12689
- Malla S, Niraula NP, Liou K, Sohng JK (2010) Improvement in doxorubicin productivity by overexpression of regulatory genes in Streptomyces peucetius. Res Microbiol 161:109–117. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.resmic.2009.12.003
- Martín JF, Liras P (2020) The Balance Metabolism Safety Net: Integration of Stress Signals by Interacting Transcriptional Factors in Streptomyces and Related Actinobacteria. Front Microbiol 10:
- Martín-Sánchez L, Singh KS, Avalos M, et al (2019) Phylogenomic analyses and distribution of terpene synthases among Streptomyces. Beilstein Journal of Organic Chemistry 15:1181–1193. https://doi.org/10.3762/bjoc.15.115
- Martins-Teixeira MB, Carvalho I (2020) Antitumour Anthracyclines: Progress and Perspectives. ChemMedChem 15:933–948. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cmdc.202000131

- Mattioli R, Ilari A, Colotti B, et al (2023) Doxorubicin and other anthracyclines in cancers: Activity, chemoresistance and its overcoming. Mol Aspects Med 93:101205. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mam.2023.101205
- Matyszewska D (2020) The influence of charge and lipophilicity of daunorubicin and idarubicin on their penetration of model biological membranes – Langmuir monolayer and electrochemical studies. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) - Biomembranes 1862:183104. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbamem.2019.183104
- McGowan J v., Chung R, Maulik A, et al (2017) Anthracycline Chemotherapy and Cardiotoxicity. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther 31:63–75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10557-016-6711-0
- Méndez C, Salas JA (2005) Engineering Glycosylation in Bioactive Compounds by Combinatorial Biosynthesis. In: Wohlleben W, Spellig T, Müller-Tiemann B (eds) Biocombinatorial Approaches for Drug Finding. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 127–146
- Méndez C, Salas JA (2001) The role of ABC transporters in antibiotic-producing organisms: drug secretion and resistance mechanisms. Res Microbiol 152:341–350. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0923-2508(01)01205-0
- Metsä-Ketelä M, Niemi J, Mäntsälä P, Schneider G (2008) Anthracycline Biosynthesis: Genes, Enzymes and Mechanisms. In: Krohn K (ed) Anthracycline Chemistry and Biology I: Biological Occurence and Biosynthesis, Synthesis and Chemistry. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 101–140
- Minotti G, Menna P, Salvatorelli E, et al (2004) Anthracyclines: Molecular advances and pharmacologie developments in antitumor activity and cardiotoxicity. Pharmacol Rev 56:185–229
- Murabito A, Russo M, Ghigo A (2023) Mitochondrial intoxication by anthracyclines. In: Mitochondrial Intoxication. Elsevier, pp 299–321
- Mussi S V, Sawant R, Perche F, et al (2014) Novel Nanostructured Lipid Carrier Co-Loaded with Doxorubicin and Docosahexaenoic Acid Demonstrates Enhanced in Vitro Activity and Overcomes Drug Resistance in MCF-7/Adr Cells. Pharm Res 31:1882–1892. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-013-1290-2
- Nielsen J (1998) The role of metabolic engineering in the production of secondary metabolites. Curr Opin Microbiol 1:330–336. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/S1369-5274(98)80037-4
- Nitiss JL (2009) DNA topoisomerase II and its growing repertoire of biological functions. Nat Rev Cancer 9:327–337. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrc2608
- Norimasa T, Takeshi H, Jun X, et al (2003) Innovative Approach for Improvement of an Antibiotic-Overproducing Industrial Strain of Streptomyces albus. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:6412–6417. https://doi.org/10.1128/AEM.69.11.6412-6417.2003
- Nunn CM, Van Meervelt L, Zhang S, et al (1991) DNA-drug interactions: The crystal structures of d(TGTACA) and d(TGATCA) complexed with daunomycin. J Mol Biol 222:167–177. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0022-2836(91)90203-I
- Ohnuki T, Imanaka T, Aiba S (1985) Self-cloning in Streptomyces griseus of an str gene cluster for streptomycin biosynthesis and streptomycin resistance. J Bacteriol 164:85–94. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.164.1.85-94.1985
- Oki T, Matsuzawa Y, Kiyoshima K, et al NEW ANTHRACYCLINES, FEUDOMYCINS, PRODUCED BY THE MUTANT FROM STREPTOMYCES COERULEORUBIDUS ME130-A4
- Olano C, Lombó F, Méndez C, Salas JA (2008) Improving production of bioactive secondary

metabolites in actinomycetes by metabolic engineering. Metab Eng 10:281–292. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ymben.2008.07.001

- Pang B, de Jong J, Qiao X, et al (2015) Chemical profiling of the genome with anti-cancer drugs defines target specificities. Nat Chem Biol 11:472–480. https://doi.org/10.1038/nchembio.1811
- Parajuli N, Basnet DB, Chan Lee H, et al (2004) Genome analyses of Streptomyces peucetius ATCC 27952 for the identification and comparison of cytochrome P450 complement with other Streptomyces. Arch Biochem Biophys 425:233–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.abb.2004.03.011
- Pudhuvai B, Koul B, Das R, Shah MP (2024) Nano-Fertilizers (NFs) for Resurgence in Nutrient Use Efficiency (NUE): a Sustainable Agricultural Strategy. Curr Pollut Rep 11:1. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40726-024-00331-9
- Ribeiro JA, Silva F, Pereira CM (2013) Electrochemical Study of the Anticancer Drug Daunorubicin at a Water/Oil Interface: Drug Lipophilicity and Quantification. Anal Chem 85:1582–1590. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac3028245
- Rodrigues da Silva GH, de Moura LD, de Carvalho FV, et al (2021) Antineoplastics encapsulated in nanostructured lipid carriers. Molecules 26
- Rokem JS, Lantz AE, Nielsen J (2007) Systems biology of antibiotic production by microorganisms. Nat Prod Rep 24:1262–1287. https://doi.org/10.1039/B617765B
- Romero-Rodríguez A, Maldonado-Carmona N, Ruiz-Villafán B, et al (2018) Interplay between carbon, nitrogen and phosphate utilization in the control of secondary metabolite production in Streptomyces. Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek 111:761–781. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10482-018-1073-1
- Romero-Rodríguez A, Rocha D, Ruiz-Villafán B, et al (2017) Carbon catabolite regulation in Streptomyces: new insights and lessons learned. World J Microbiol Biotechnol 33:162. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11274-017-2328-0
- Ruiz B, Chávez A, Forero A, et al (2010) Production of microbial secondary metabolites: Regulation by the carbon source. Crit Rev Microbiol 36:146–167. https://doi.org/10.3109/10408410903489576
- Sánchez S, Chávez A, Forero A, et al (2010) Carbon source regulation of antibiotic production. J Antibiot (Tokyo) 63:442–459. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2010.78
- Seke M, Petrovic D, Labudovic Borovic M, et al (2019) Fullerenol/iron nanocomposite diminishes doxorubicin-induced toxicity. Journal of Nanoparticle Research 21:239. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11051-019-4681-4
- Shapiro CL, Recht A (2001) Side Effects of Adjuvant Treatment of Breast Cancer. New England Journal of Medicine 344:1997–2008. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJM200106283442607
- Shrestha B, Pokhrel AR, Darsandhari S, et al (2019) Engineering Streptomyces peucetius for Doxorubicin and Daunorubicin Biosynthesis. In: Arora D, Sharma C, Jaglan S, Lichtfouse E (eds) Pharmaceuticals from Microbes: The Bioengineering Perspective. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp 191–209
- Singh J, Dutta T, Kim K-H, et al (2018) 'Green' synthesis of metals and their oxide nanoparticles: applications for environmental remediation. J Nanobiotechnology 16:84. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12951-018-0408-4
- Spencer DMS, Bilardi RA, Koch TH, et al (2008) DNA repair in response to anthracycline–DNA adducts: A role for both homologous recombination and nucleotide excision repair. Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis 638:110–121.

https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2007.09.005

- Srinivasan P, Palani SN, Prasad R (2010a) Daunorubicin efflux in Streptomyces peucetius modulates biosynthesis by feedback regulation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 305:18–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.01905.x
- Srinivasan P, Palani SN, Prasad R (2010b) Daunorubicin efflux in Streptomyces peucetius modulates biosynthesis by feedback regulation. FEMS Microbiol Lett 305:18–27. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6968.2010.01905.x
- Swain SM, Whaley FS, Ewer MS (2003) Congestive heart failure in patients treated with doxorubicin. Cancer 97:2869–2879. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/cncr.11407
- Swift LP, Rephaeli A, Nudelman A, et al (2006) Doxorubicin-DNA Adducts Induce a Non-Topoisomerase II–Mediated Form of Cell Death. Cancer Res 66:4863–4871. https://doi.org/10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-05-3410
- Taatjes DJ, Gaudiano G, Resing K, Koch TH (1997) Redox Pathway Leading to the Alkylation of DNA by the Anthracycline, Antitumor Drugs Adriamycin and Daunomycin. J Med Chem 40:1276–1286. https://doi.org/10.1021/jm960835d
- Tanaka Y, Hosaka T, Ochi K (2010) Rare earth elements activate the secondary metabolite– biosynthetic gene clusters in Streptomyces coelicolor A3(2). J Antibiot (Tokyo) 63:477–481. https://doi.org/10.1038/ja.2010.53
- Tanaka Y, Izawa M, Hiraga Y, et al (2017) Metabolic perturbation to enhance polyketide and nonribosomal peptide antibiotic production using triclosan and ribosome-targeting drugs. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 101:4417–4431. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8216-6
- Thirumaran R, Prendergast GC, Gilman PB (2007) Chapter 7 Cytotoxic Chemotherapy in Clinical Treatment of Cancer. In: Prendergast GC, Jaffee EM (eds) Cancer Immunotherapy. Academic Press, Burlington, pp 101–116
- Thomas C, Tampé R (2024) Annual Review of Biochemistry Structural and Mechanistic Principles of ABC Transporters. 22:18. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-biochem-011520
- Thomas GJ (1990) Synthesis of Anthracyclines Related to Daunomycin. In: Lukacs G, Ohno M (eds) Recent Progress in the Chemical Synthesis of Antibiotics. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, pp 467–496
- Tiffert Y, Franz-Wachtel M, Fladerer C, et al (2011) Proteomic analysis of the GlnR-mediated response to nitrogen limitation in Streptomyces coelicolor M145. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 89:1149–1159. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-011-3086-9
- V PLJ (2006) Clinically Relevant Chromosomally Encoded Multidrug Resistance Efflux Pumps in Bacteria. Clin Microbiol Rev 19:382–402. https://doi.org/10.1128/cmr.19.2.382-402.2006
- van der Zanden SY, Qiao X, Neefjes J (2021) New insights into the activities and toxicities of the old anticancer drug doxorubicin. FEBS J 288:6095–6111. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/febs.15583
- van Wezel GP, McDowall KJ (2011) The regulation of the secondary metabolism of Streptomyces: new links and experimental advances. Nat Prod Rep 28:1311–1333. https://doi.org/10.1039/C1NP00003A
- Vasanthakumar A, Kattusamy K, Prasad R (2013a) Regulation of daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius – feed forward and feedback transcriptional control. J Basic Microbiol 53:636–644. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.201200302
- Vasanthakumar A, Kattusamy K, Prasad R (2013b) Regulation of daunorubicin biosynthesis in Streptomyces peucetius – feed forward and feedback transcriptional control. J Basic Microbiol 53:636–644. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1002/jobm.201200302

- Von Hoff DD, Rozencweig M, Layard M, et al (1977) Daunomycin-induced cardiotoxicity in children and adults: A review of 110 cases. Am J Med 62:200–208. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/0002-9343(77)90315-1
- Wang J, Liu H, Huang D, et al (2017) Comparative proteomic and metabolomic analysis of Streptomyces tsukubaensis reveals the metabolic mechanism of FK506 overproduction by feeding soybean oil. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 101:2447–2465. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-017-8136-5
- Wang X, Tian X, Wu Y, et al (2018) Enhanced doxorubicin production by Streptomyces peucetius using a combination of classical strain mutation and medium optimization. Prep Biochem Biotechnol 48:514–521. https://doi.org/10.1080/10826068.2018.1466156

Webber MA, Piddock LJ V (2003) The importance of efflux pumps in bacterial antibiotic resistance. Journal of Antimicrobial Chemotherapy 51:9–11. https://doi.org/10.1093/jac/dkg050

- Weiss RB (1992) The anthracyclines: will we ever find a better doxorubicin? Semin Oncol 19:670–686
- Westman EL, Canova MJ, Radhi IJ, et al (2012) Bacterial Inactivation of the Anticancer Drug Doxorubicin. Chem Biol 19:1255–1264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chembiol.2012.08.011
- Xu X, Persson HL, Richardson DR (2005) Molecular Pharmacology of the Interaction of Anthracyclines with Iron. Mol Pharmacol 68:261. https://doi.org/10.1124/mol.105.013383
- Young T, Li Y, Efthimiou G (2020) Olive Pomace Oil can be Used as an Alternative Carbon Source for Clavulanic Acid Production by Streptomyces clavuligerus. Waste Biomass Valorization 11:3965–3970. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-019-00719-5
- Yuan T, Yin C, Zhu C, et al (2011a) Improvement of antibiotic productivity by knock-out of dauW in Streptomyces coeruleobidus. Microbiol Res 166:539–547. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2010.10.006
- Yuan T, Yin C, Zhu C, et al (2011b) Improvement of antibiotic productivity by knock-out of dauW in Streptomyces coeruleobidus. Microbiol Res 166:539–547. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.micres.2010.10.006
- Yukinori T, Ken K, Yutaka H, et al (2013) Activation and Products of the Cryptic Secondary Metabolite Biosynthetic Gene Clusters by Rifampin Resistance (rpoB) Mutations in Actinomycetes. J Bacteriol 195:2959–2970. https://doi.org/10.1128/jb.00147-13
- Zack KM, Sorenson T, Joshi SG (2024) Types and Mechanisms of Efflux Pump Systems and the Potential of Efflux Pump Inhibitors in the Restoration of Antimicrobial Susceptibility, with a Special Reference to Acinetobacter baumannii. Pathogens 13
- Zhang H, Lu D, Li X, et al (2018) Heavy ion mutagenesis combined with triclosan screening provides a new strategy for improving the arachidonic acid yield in Mortierella alpina. BMC Biotechnol 18:23. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12896-018-0437-y
- Zhang S, Liu X, Bawa-Khalfe T, et al (2012) Identification of the molecular basis of doxorubicininduced cardiotoxicity. Nat Med 18:1639–1642. https://doi.org/10.1038/nm.2919
- Zhu H, Sandiford SK, van Wezel GP (2014) Triggers and cues that activate antibiotic production by actinomycetes. J Ind Microbiol Biotechnol 41:371–386. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10295-013-1309-z
- Zweier JL, Gianni L, Muindi J, Myers CE (1986) Differences in O2 reduction by the iron complexes of adriamycin and daunomycin: the importance of the sidechain hydroxyl group. Biochimica et Biophysica Acta (BBA) General Subjects 884:326–336.

7. List of Publications

Publications Supporting this Thesis Methods and Results.

- Jozová E, Rost M, Rychlá A, Stehlíková D, Pudhuvai B, Hejna O, Beran P, Čurn V, Klíma, M 2023. Microsatellite Markers: A Tool to Assess the Genetic Diversity of Yellow Mustard (*Sinapis alba L.*). Plants, 12, 4026. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/plants12234026</u>
- Baveesh Pudhuvai, Karel Beneš, Vladislav Čurn, Andrea Bohata, Jana Lencova, Radka Vrzalova, Jan Barta, Valdimir Matha 2024. Enhancement of Daunomycin Production in Streptomyces sp. By Counteracting Autotoxicity A Prospective. Microrganisms (Under review)
- Karel Beneš, Baveesh Pudhuvai, Vladislav Čurn, Andrea Bohata, Jana Lencova, Jan Barta, Valdimir Matha 2024. Dounomycin Production Enhancement in *S. ceoruleorubidus* by Adapting Autonomous Defense Through Biogenic Nanoparticle Formation. Microorganisms (Under preparattion)

Publications during the course of Study.

- Pudhuvai, B., Koul, B., Das, R. et al. Nano-Fertilizers (NFs) for Resurgence in Nutrient Use Efficiency (NUE): a Sustainable Agricultural Strategy. Curr Pollution Rep 11, 1 (2025). https://doi.org/10.1007/s40726-024-00331-9
- Ahamed Khan, Baveesh Pudhuvai, Ankita Shrestha, Ajay Kumar Mishra, Maulin P. Shah, Bhupendra Koul & Nrisingha Dey (2023) CRISPR-mediated iron and folate biofortification in crops: advances and perspectives, Biotechnology and Genetic Engineering Reviews, DOI: 10.1080/02648725.2023.2205202 (IF 4.2)
- Khan, A.; Nasim, N.; Pudhuvai, B.; Koul, B.; Upadhyay, S.K.; Sethi, L.; Dey, N. Plant Synthetic Promoters: Advancement and Prospective. Agriculture 2023, 13, 298. https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture13020298 (IF 3.4)
- Koul, B.; Baveesh, P.; Sharma, C.; Kumar, A.; Sharma, V.; Yadav, D.; Jin, J.-O. *Carica papaya* L.: A Tropical Fruit with Benefits Beyond the Tropics. Diversity 2022, 14, 683. https://doi.org/10.3390/d14080683. (IF 3.03)

Book Chapters:

Koul, B., Pudhuvai, B., Bhanot, M., Tiwari, S. (2024). Updates on Global Status of Transgenic and Genome-Edited Crops. In: Tiwari, S., Koul, B. (eds) Genetic Engineering of Crop Plants for Food and Health Security. Springer, Singapore. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-97-3119-0_19 2.

8. Participation in foreign or domestic conferences and internships

- Internship with Oncora S.R.O (2021-2023), Nemanicka 2722, České Budejovice, Czech Republic.
- Internship with VUAB Pharma A.S (2024), Roztoky, Nemanicka 2722, České Budejovice, Czech Republic.
- Conference Participation and Poster Presentation in CPSC conference: Translational agriculture - from model plants to crops, Aug-2024, Copenhagen, Denmark

9. Curriculum vitae

PERSONAL INFORMATION

Name: Pudhuvai Baveesh, Date of Birth: 18 October 1992. Nationality: Indian. Current address: Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic ORCiD:0000-0002-3563-2142 Email <u>pudhuvaibaveesh@gmail.com</u> Phone: +420-737973975.

EDUCATION AND TRAINING

Master of Science (M.Sc.) in Agriculture (Plant Breeding and 2014-2016 Genetics) Institute Lovely Professional University, Punjab, India.

Thesis Assessment of Genetic variability in Tomato (*Solanum lycopersicum*. *L*)

Bachelor of Science (B.Sc.) in Agriculture

2010-2014

InstituteFaculty of Agriculture, Annamalai University, Tamil Nadu, India.ThesisThe antagonistic potential of various synthetic and non-synthetic agents for controlling the bacterial
canker (Xanthomonas axonopodis pv. citri) in citrus.

PROFESSIONAL POSITIONS

10/2023 -	- Present	Research employee (enzymology) (https://www.vuab.cz)
		(part-time) at VUAB Pharma a.s. Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic.
11/2019-09/2023		Former employee at Oncroa s.r.o - www.oncora.cz
		Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic.
	<u>Responsibilities</u>	Isolation of plasmid DNA, competent cell preparation, bioinformatic analysis, gene transformation, recombinant protein production (Phosphorylases: UP, PNP), protein purification, SDS-PAGE, HPLC.
10/2019 - Present		Doctoral researcher,
		Department of Genetics and Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia, Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic.
	<u>Responsibilities</u>	Isolation of DNA, RNA, PCR, qPCR analysis for yellow mustard (<i>Sinapis alba</i>) and honey bee samples, manuscript writing, and revisions
08/2018 - 09/2019		Research Assistant. Institute of Parasitology, Biology Centre, Czech Academy of Sciences, Czech Republic
	<u>Responsibilities</u>	Isolation of parasitic DNA, RNA, qPCR in carp fish, fish haematology (RBC & WBC Separation), protozoan culturing in fish and handling experimental fish facility.
06/2016 -	11/2017	Research Associate & Teaching Assistant,
		(Regional Agricultural Research Station, Kerala, India) funded by ICAR (Indian Council for Agricultural Research)
	<u>Responsibilities</u>	Screening and analysis of newly developed rice varieties (breeder & hybrid seeds) from breeding stations all over India for their abiotic and biotic stress tolerance, nutrient deficiency, yield, and crop duration for further field application and seed certification.
		Teaching Genetics, Plant Breeding, Physiology and Seed technology subjects for Diploma (polytechnic) Students and tour visiting schools.

TECHNICAL SKILLS

- DNA, RNA, plasmid isolation, Agarose electrophoresis, SDS-PAGE, PCR, qPCR, Flow cytometry, cloning, Bacterial transformation, vector screening, protein isolation, and protein immobilization.
- Recombinant nucleoside enzymes (UDP/PNP) production technology (*E. coli* expression system), bacterial fermentation (lab-scale).
- Planning and handling research plots of rice and field plots of breeding trials, Varietal improvement trials, and Hybrid seed production.
- Basic knowledge and skills in working and maintenance of aquaponics setup.
- Bioinformatics basic tools (Sequence analysis (DNA/protein) and phylogeny, domain/motif analysis).

AGRICULTURAL PROJECTS HANDLED

Rural developmental project – as part of Bachelor's education curriculum

 Team Lead- RAWE (Rural Agricultural Work Experience Program), Tamilnadu, 2014. <u>Responsibilities</u>: Led a team of 25 members for 90 days, conducted crop awareness campaigns, training and demonstration sessions on various agricultural technologies, rural health camps for farmers and planning village agricultural operations with local leaders.

ICAR Technical projects - as an employee in the National Research Station (RICE mandate)

- Plant physiology AICRIP (All India coordinated Rice Improvement Program) Supervised <u>six</u> projects of rice varietal trials, planning, execution, pest and disease management, cultivation practices, data collection, and screening for developing new varieties.
- Genetics & Plant Breeding AICRIP- (All India coordinated Rice Improvement Program)

Supervised <u>thirteen</u> projects of rice varietal trials for breeding traits like resistance, tolerance, stress, and disease factors. Besides responsible for planning, execution, pest/disease management, data collection, and screening for new varieties.

WORKSHOPS/CERTIFICATIONS/ SEMINARS ATTENDED: 9 (major ones listed here)

- Flow-cytometry workshop by Thermofisher, Czech Republic, Sept-2018.
- Biotechnology conference, MEVPIS, Czech Republic, Sept-2018.
- International workshop of Plant genomics and Bioinformatics Feb-2022.
- CPSC conference: Translational agriculture from model plants to crops, Aug-2024, Copenhagen, Denmark

OUTREACH ACTIVITIES

International Student Ambassador, University of South Bohemia, Ceske Budejovice. Czech Republic.

Responsibilities: 1) Participation in Education fairs and public exhibitions (As a university representative).

- 2) Contributing to University Web pages (Blogs and articles),
- 3) Content creation for university social media handles for research updates/news (Instagram, Facebook and Linkedin)

LANGUAGES: English (B2 FCE), Hindi, Telugu, Tamil, Malayalam, Czech (A2).

HOBBIES: Cooking, Travel, Motorbiking, Hiking, photography, tracking company financial reports

LICENSE: EU Driver's license "B" (issued in Czech Republic), Indian "LMV/TW" (Car and motocycle)

REFERENCES

- Prof. Vladislav Čurn, Department of Genetics and Biotechnology, Faculty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia in Ceske Budejovice, 370 05 Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic. *curn@fzt.jcu.cz*
- Dr Andrea Bohata, Vice Dean, Faculty of Agriculture and Technology, University of South Bohemia in Ceske Budejovice, 370 05 Ceske Budejovice, Czech Republic. *bohata@fzt.jcu.cz*

I hereby declare that all the details stated above are true to the best of my knowledge.

Samuel

Czech Republic.

Baveesh Pudhuvai